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OUR NEXT ISSUE 

Our next issue will include: 
Southminster: a village of weather­

boarded buildings and a link with 
Nelson. 

The story of the historic Crowstone at 
Westcliff. 

Trees in Essex place-names. 
The runaway coffin. 
Military units of Essex. 
A zigzag from Danbury to Maldon. 

And all the usual features. 

OUR COVER PICTURE 
Our cover photograph shows cottages 
in the main street at Great Bardfield, a 
pleasant and unspoilt town about eight 
miles north of Dunmow. Photograph 
by H The Essex Countryside. H 
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Our Photographic Competition 
THE next competition will be for photographs of Essex homes and gardens. The closin g 

date will be October 15 and envelopes should be marked "Essex photographic com­
petition." Prizes of one guinea will be awarded for all prints published. Photographs should 
be black and white on glossy paper. They need not be standard shape. Description, date that 
photograph was taken and sender's name and address should be lightly written on the back. 
The return of prints cannot be guaranteed. but competitors are asked to enclose a stamped 
addressed envelope if they wish them returned. Otherwise pr'ints wi ll be filed for possible 
future use. 
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TALES OF THE ESSEX BORDER (5) by E. A. Rudae 

TI-IE PO\\lDER MILL 
W

HEN King Henry VIII had 
his disagreement with the 
Church which resulted in the 
dissolution of the religious 

houses it had as a sequel one strange and 
unexpected development in Essex. 

In the year 1540 the abbey of Waltham 
shared the general fate of the abbeys, and 
part of the lands of the abbots came into the 
possession of Sir Anthony Denny, of 
Cheshunt. Among the property so acquired 
were a fulling mill used for the treatment of 
woollen cloth and two watermills probably 
employed in the milling of grain. From that 
day onwards they were put to a new use, for 
Sir Anthony was the appointed maker of 
gunpowder to the sovereign, and the mills 
were adapted to operate the machinery of 
powder-making. 

* * * 
The Waltham mills were the first in Eng­

land to make gunpowder. Prior to the six­
teenth century all supplies were imported 
from the Continent. The adoption of gun­
powder as a weapon of warfare had been 
very slow, and it had taken many years to 
overcome the prejudice against so un­
predictable and inefficient a material as it 
seems to have been in those days. Although 
cannon were used as early as 1346, at the 
battle of Crecy, little progress had been 
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made with powder as a propellant. Its 
explosive power was well known, and it is 
interesting to note that Wait ham powder 
was used in 1556 to blow up the foundations 
of the central tower of the ancient abbey, 
which had stood at the east end of the present 
nave. 

* * * 
No one can say for certain when the 

explosive mixture we call gunpowder was 
first discovered. There is little doubt that it 
originated in the prehistoric east, probably 
in China or India. This much is logical 
enough, for the three ingredients would have 
been well known to Asian man, and in course 
of time someone would discover the startling 
effect which could ensue when they were 
mixed together. These three ingredients were 
nitre or saltpetre, sulphur or brimstone, and 
wood-charcoal. Nitre is a product of the 
decay of animal refuse, and occurs iG the 
soil of old village sites. Since time im­
memorial it has been leached out from such 
soils in tropical countries like India. Bengal 
nitre was one of the most important com­
modities carried by the East India Company 
formed in the year 1600 largely with the 
object of providing English powder factories 
with vital supplies- and "Bengal lights" is 
a name still used to describe one type of 
firework. It is said that during the civil war 
Cromwell augmented his supplies of nitre 

by extracting the soil of ancient churchyards. 
Brimstone or sulphur occurs naturally in 

many parts of the world, particularly in areas 
of volcanic activity. It was one of the first 
elements known to prehistoric man, and its 
combustible nature has been known through­
out the ages. Wood-charcoal is easily pro­
duced by the controlled burning of wood in 
circumstances where air is partially excluded. 
How it came about that these three were 
first mixed we do not know, but there is no 
doubt that the fireworks traditionally asso­
ciated with the Chinese were invented many 
cen tu ries ago. 

The earliest mention we have in England 
of this combustible mixture occurs in the 
writings of a thirteenth-century Franciscan 
monk, Roger Bacon, who perhaps experi­
mented with it. It was not until a century 
later that a German Franciscan monk named 
Berthold Schwartz discovered its powers as 
a propellant, and so artillery was born. By 
the middle of t{;he sixteenth century gun­
powder was becoming established as a 
weapon of warfare, and its manufacture 
began upon the fie lds and meadows of the 
once-great Wait ham Abbey. 

* * * 
The making of gunpowder involved several 

processes. The impure ingredients had to be 
purified, each separately ground to a fine 
powder, mixed in the correct proportions, 
moistened with water and dried to a cake, 
and this cake finally crushed into grains, or 
"corn," of a uniform size. Thus many 
buildings were required-grinding mills, 
mixing houses, pressing and drying sheds, 
and coming houses. The finished product 
was stored in a magazine until such time as 
it could be transported to the arsenals. It 
was a dangerous occupation, for, as Dr. 
Thomas Fuller, the seventeenth-century his­
torian, wrote : "It is questionable whether 
the making of gunpowder be more profitable 
or more dangerous. The mills in my parish 
have been blown up five times in seven years, 
but, blessed be God, without the loss of any 
man's life." As time went on the demand for 
gunpowder increased, and accidental explo­
sions became more frequent. The old water­
mills became inadequate as a source of 
power, and horses were introduced to turn 
the machinery. 

W. Winters, the historian of Waltham 

Powdennil! Lane, the last surviving 
link with a vanished Essex 
industry. A view towards the west 
tower of Walthum Abbey. 
Photograph by E. A. Rudge. 



The bravery and quick 
thinking of a carpenter, now 
almost forgotten, saved the 
town of Waltham from 
disaster. 

Abbey, compiled a valuable detailed account 
of the year-by-year progress of the Waltham 
powder mills, published in 1887. Much of 
his material came from records kept at the 
works, from which this story is drawn. It 
relates to an accidental explosion which 
occurred in the year 1811. There had been 
many explosions since the mills had start6d 
to operate, but that of 1811 was without 
doubt the most spectacular of them all. 

* * * 
The first fatal accident was recorded in the 

old parish register for October 4, 1665 : 
" Buried, Tho. Gutridg, kill'd with a powder­
mill." The next entry was in 1720 : "Peter 
Bennet, Kill'd ye powdermills." In 1739 a 
charge of powder in one of the mill-houses 
went up and one man completely dis­
appeared; only his clothes were found on 
Galley Hill, a mile and a half away! 

In those early days the manufacturing 
method relied on experience, and not on any 
depth of technical knowledge. The causes 
of explosions were found by painful experi­
ence; thus one was attributed to an over­
heated bearing, another to a spark from an 
iron hammer, and yet another to a small 
fragment of flint in the mixed powder. But 
many happened for no apparent reason at 
all, and they occurred with greater frequency 
as the production of gunpowder increased . 
Between the years 1789 and 1810, when 
Britain was at war with France, nearly half 
a million barrels, each holding 100 pounds, 
poured from the Waltham mills, and during 
the same period scarcely a year passed with­
out a violent incident recorded in the minutes. 
Some were minor explosions with no loss of 
life; others, as in 1801, when a corning 
house blew up, killing nine men and four 
horses, emphasized only too tragically the 
hazards of this dangerous industry. 

* * * 
It was 11.15 in the morning of November 

27, 1811. The little town of Waltham was 
quietly going about its business, and by the 
river, behind the Abbey church, the gun­
powder factory was working to capacity to 
supply the urgently needed powder for the 
fighting services. At that moment an ominous 
rumbling explosion was heard, almost 
immediately followed by a second one. The 
first had occurred in a press house, from 
which fiercely burning debris was scattered 
over a wide area. Some fell on a coming 
house, which blew up in turn, killing nine 
of the workmen. In the accounts of the 
disaster which were published the next day, 
it seems that the whole town was in great 

Charles Rayner, woodcarver, of Little Waltham, working at Shire 
Hall, Chelmsford. His finished work is hanging up to d fy after 
being soaked in linseed oil. This photograph was taken in March 
this year and entered by Mrs. E. Woods, of Broomfield, near 
Chelmsford, in our competition for photographs of Essex craftsmen. 

danger, for it was thought that the magazine 
would blow. up. A man was sent through the 
streets warning the inhabitants to leave their 
houses at once, and with an emotion very 
near to panic the villagers waited for the 
threatened blow. But the final explosion 
never came, though no one knew the reason 
at the time. It was only revealed a few days 
later at the inquiry held by the governing 
body. 

Meanwhile the reports continued to come 
in, describing almost freakish effects over a 
wide area. At Stepney a plate-glass mirror 
was shattered; at Hackney and at Blackwall 
windows were blown in; at Marylebone 
several houses were damaged; and men at 
work in Regent's Park felt the ground shake. 
Among the Thames docks ships were shaken 
as though by an earthquake. 

Had the magazine been involved one can 
only imagine the extent of the damage which 
would have followed , for here were stored 
the barrels of powder consigned to the use 
of the forces, then at the height of the 
Napoleonic wars. The mills were working 
to full capacity and there is li ttle doubt that 
the magazine would have potentially wrecked 
the little town, and the abbey church, the 
streets and the quaint houses wo lid have 
suffered a blow which might well have in­
flicted irreparable damage. Wh 11 then was 
it that averted this calamity ? 

The answer is recorded in a single entry 
among the letters preserved among the 
archives of the old gunpowder works, which 
were discovered and reprinted by the Wal­
tham historian Winters in 1887. It is a bald 
statement that "an appeal was made to the 
Hon. Board of Governors for some reward of 

merit to William Peyton (or Paton), carpenter, 
who after the explosion extinguished a fire­
brand that f ell near the door of the, magazine. 
The door had been forced open by the explo­
sion. Reward a donation of£20." 

In this inadequate statement is hidden an 
act of supreme heroism such as is inspired in 
a moment of great peril. We see this man in 
the midst of a scene of destruction. Two 
explosions had destroyed at least two build­
ings; nine of his co-workers had been blown 
to pieces and burning debris had showered 
down upon the factory precincts. One burn­
ing timber had fallen at the open doorway of 
the magazine; and with no thought for his 
own safety, and with great presence of mind, 
he put out the flames and saved Waltham 
from a great disaster. 

It is strange that this heroic act was 
recorded only in an obscure minute of a 
board meeting, in which even his name is not 
accurately known. Surely if ever a man 
deserved a memorial at the hands of a grate­
ful community Waltham Abbey owed it to 
William Peyton, or Paton. 

* * * 
The Waltham powder mills are today 

only a memory, and a name of a road. 
Powdermill Lane, beside the River Lea, from 
where the ancient tower of the abbey church 
can be seen across the meadows, is today an 
unimportant cul-de-sac. About the middle 
of the nineteenth century the importance of 
gunpowder began to fade. The discovery of 
other, more powerful, explosives by the 
Nobels accelerated the decline and final 
closure of the Waltham factory. 
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